IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

LOUIS B. GASKIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0946427

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 405 N. Reo St., Suite 150 Tampa, Florida 33609 (813) 871-7900

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 27, 1990, the grand jury of Flagler County, Florida, returned an indictment against Mr. Gaskin in which he was charged with two counts of first degree murder in the death of Robert Sturmfels (premeditated and felony murder), two counts of first degree murder in the death of Georgette Sturmfels (premeditated and felony), one count of armed robbery of the Sturmfels, one count of burglary of the Sturmfels' home, two counts of attempted first degree murder of Joseph and Mary Rector, one count of armed robbery of the Rectors, and one count of burglary of the Rectors' home. He pled not guilty.

Mr. Gaskin's case proceeded to jury trial on June 11, 1990, despite repeated motions by defense counsel for a change of venue due to excessive pre-trial publicity (R. 1074). A jury returned guilty verdicts on nine counts (R. 1285-1294). The jury found Mr. Gaskin not guilty of the attempted murder of Mary Rector. The jury recommended death sentences for both murders by a vote of eight to four (R. 1301-1302). The trial court imposed two death sentences on each victim.

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed in part but remanded to the trial court to vacate one count of firstdegree murder for each victim. This was necessary because the trial court had erroneously imposed two counts of first-degree murder (premeditated and felony-murder) for each victim. <u>Gaskin</u> <u>v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1991).

Thereafter, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated and remanded the case again in light of the

Court's decision in <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>. See <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 112 S. Ct. 3022 (1992), <u>reh'g denied</u>, 113 S. Ct. 22 (1992).

On remand from the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the death sentences. <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u>, 114 S. Ct. 328 (1993).

Mr. Gaskin filed his motion for postconviction relief under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on March 23, 1995, seven months before the two-year date under the pre-existing Rule 3.850 (PC-R. 1-44). In that motion, Mr. Gaskin included a claim that various state agencies had not complied with his public records requests (PC-R. 1-44). Mr. Gaskin notified the Court that the Flagler County State Attorney's Office and the Flagler County Sheriff's Office had not complied with Chapter 119 (PC-R. 397-404).

The state filed its answer to the motion to vacate judgments of convictions and sentences, and an appendix to the answer on May 19, 1995 (PC-R. 53-87, 88-252). Subsequently, a hearing was held before Judge Kim Hammond. The state contested the indigency motion filed by undersigned counsel regarding Mr. Gaskin's indigent status (PC-R. 47-49). The motion was granted (PC-R. 255-257).

After Mr. Gaskin filed a motion to disqualify the judge, Judge Hammond recused himself pursuant to Rule of Judicial Administration 2.160 on August 22, 1995 (PC-R. 297). On September 5, 1995, the case was re-assigned to Judge James S. Foxman in Daytona Beach. The case was given a Volusia County case number (PC-R. 396). A motion to compel disclosure pursuant to Chapter 119 was filed on February 1, 1995 (PC-R. 397-404). An amended

motion for post-conviction relief was filed on the two-year deadline under Rule 3.850 on October 12, 1995 (PC-R. 299-395). This motion also included a public records claim alleging that Mr. Gaskin had not received full compliance with his public records requests. The state filed no response to this motion.

Simultaneously with the litigation of the Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Gaskin was litigating public records issues with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) and the Department of Corrections (DOC), agencies outside the jurisdiction of the Seventh Judicial Circuit. The litigation in those cases was in Leon County pursuant to <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1992).

The 3.850 postconviction motion was held in abeyance pending the resolution of the DOC civil suit. After counsel inadvertently failed to give the 3.850 court a status report of the DOC civil suit, the 3.850 court dismissed the remaining public records issue regarding DOC even though the Court had no jurisdiction over the matter (PC-R. 435). Jurisdiction over the DOC suit remained in Leon County with Judge Steinmeyer. The DOC suit was subsequently dismissed by Judge Steinmeyer. The appeal of the DOC suit is now pending before the First District Court of Appeals and has not been consolidated with the 3.850 case. See, <u>Gaskin v. Singletary</u>, First District Court of Appeals Case No. 96-03966.¹

¹The issue in the First District Court of Appeals case is whether the lower court erred in ruling that collateral counsel could not represent Mr. Gaskin in a civil proceeding against the Department of Corrections. By determining that collateral counsel could not represent her client in civil court under Fla. Stat. (continued...)

On November 7, 1996, Judge Foxman held a hearing on the 3.850 postconviction motion where he heard oral argument on the motion (PC-R. 438). Judge Foxman summarily denied Mr. Gaskin's Rule 3.850 postconviction motion on January 19, 1997 (PC-R. 439-527).

Mr. Gaskin sought rehearing and offered a written proffer of facts on February 4, 1997 (PC-R. 528-597). Judge Foxman denied the motion seven days later (PC-R. 598). Notice of appeal was timely filed by Mr. Gaskin on March 12, 1997 (PC-R. 599-600).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gaskin's postconviction motion filed within the two-year date under thenexisting Rule 3.850. After the filing of Mr. Gaskin's original 3.850 motion seven months before to the two-year date, the lower court only granted leave to amend claims originally asserted in the initial 3.850 and did not give Mr. Gaskin leave to assert new claims not originally raised in that motion. The lower court erroneously believed that any amendment of the original motion, no matter how prematurely it had been filed, was to include only those facts which could have been obtained through compliance with Chapter 119 requests. The lower court applied the incorrect

¹(...continued)

^{27.7001 (}Supp. 1996), the lower court decided that the court of competent jurisdiction was the trial court where Mr. Gaskin was convicted and sentenced. At the time of the lower court's decision, the Department of Corrections was not within the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of Volusia County according to the Florida Supreme Court and <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1992). Mr. Gaskin could not seek redress in any other court. Mr. Gaskin was denied access to courts and due process of law. The relief he is requesting is that the case be remanded back to the lower court to allow him to address his public records issues against the DOC.

newly-discovered evidence standard to all new claims and facts which were presented in Mr. Gaskin's amended motion filed on the two-year date. The lower court should have considered all facts and claims raised within the two-year period under the <u>Lemon</u> standard.

2. The lower court erred in its summary disposition of Mr. Gaskin's Rule 3.850 postconviction motion as being legally insufficient. Mr. Gaskin pled sufficient facts under Rule 3.850 to require an evidentiary hearing. The court misconstrued the law regarding sufficiency of the pleading and failed to consider the proper standard in evaluating the facts pled. Remand is appropriate.

3. The trial court erred in its decision that Mr. Gaskin had waived the right to disclosure of notes in the possession of the State Attorney's Office. The State failed to disclose portions of its file even after it specifically stated that it did not consider the material exempt. The lower court erred in failing to recognize that counsel was not obligated to re-request the state's notes at the Chapter 119 evidentiary hearing when the state was not claiming them as exempt and should have disclosed them with the rest of the file. Because the State Attorney's Office did not validly claim an exemption, these materials should have been disclosed to Mr. Gaskin immediately at the hearing or its original disclosure. In the alternative, the Court should remand this cause to the lower court for disclosure of those documents for which no exemption was validly claimed. Mr. Gaskin should be given no less than sixty (60) days to amend his

postconviction motion with any facts or claims arising from the disclosed materials.

4. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gaskin's claim that he was denied an adversarial testing at the penalty phase of his capital trial. The lower court adopted the state's position that Mr. Gaskin was barred from raising new claims in his amended postconviction motion filed on the two-year deadline because they were not raised in the original 3.850 which had been filed seven months early to initiate Chapter 119 litigation. The lower court also erroneously agreed with the state that the claim itself was facially insufficient and conclusory because no witness affidavits were attached to the motion and because counsel had not pled all of the specific facts that she intended to prove at an evidentiary hearing. This interpretation of Rule 3.850 was in error. Under Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986), "the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. A trial court has only two options when presented with a Rule 3.850 motion: "either grant appellant an evidentiary hearing, or alternatively attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted." Witherspoon v. State, 590 So. 2d 1138 (4th DCA 1992). Even though the court did attach portions of the record to its order, the records attached do not conclusively rebut Mr. Gaskin's allegations, and the attachments provided by the trial court do not conclusively demonstrate that Mr. Gaskin is not entitled to relief. Because the allegations

"involve disputed issues of fact," an evidentiary hearing is necessary. <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996). <u>See also Way v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1993) (one of the purposes of an evidentiary hearing is to resolve disputed issues of fact regarding issues that might warrant reversal).

5. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gaskin's claim that he was denied a reliable adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his capital trial. The limited attachments from the record that accompanied the lower court's order do not conclusively demonstrate that Mr. Gaskin is not entitled to relief; rather, the attachments support Mr. Gaskin's entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Gaskin's postconviction motion alleged numerous extra-record allegations that cannot be refuted by the record.

6. The jury was instructed on the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated, and premeditated. However, the lower court found that this aggravating factor was not established. Under <u>Archer v. State</u>, an invalid aggravating factor was erroneously injected into the jury's sentencing calculus. Under <u>Archer</u> and <u>Richmond v. Lewis</u>, this error requires a jury resentencing.

7. Mr. Gaskin's sentencing jury was misled as to its sentencing responsibility, in violation of <u>Caldwell v.</u> <u>Mississippi</u>.

8. Mr. Gaskin alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the state's use of nonstatutory aggravating factors in his capital trial. The law was clear regarding the use of such factors.

9. Defense counsel failed to challenge effectively for a change of venue due to the intense publicity the case had received in the media. Counsel failed to discover and use the wealth of information available regarding the surrounding coverage of Mr. Gaskin's trial. The facts alleged provide a basis for relief.

10. Florida's overbroad death penalty statute was applied to Mr. Gaskin in violation of the Eighth Amendment. Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to Mr. Gaskin.

11. Appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure that an accurate and complete record on appeal was filed and available to present Mr. Gaskin's claims before this Court. Mr. Gaskin was denied a meaningful direct appeal because this Court considered his claims without the benefit of the complete record on appeal. Due to omissions in the record, no adversarial testing occurred because counsel could not raise issues based on bench conferences during jury instructions, trial, and voir dire which were not transcribed or made a part of the record. Remand for a complete record is necessary.

12. The statutory aggravating circumstances and the jury instructions on them are impermissibly and unconstitutionally vague or overbroad.

13. Juror misconduct occurred in Mr. Gaskin's trial when all but one of the jurors were familiar with the inflammatory media coverage surrounding the trial. As a result of this misconduct, Mr. Gaskin was denied a fair and impartial jury as guaranteed by the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution.

14. Florida's Rules of Professional Responsibility unconstitutionally prohibit collateral counsel from interviewing trial jurors.

15. Trial counsel failed to object to the systematic racial discrimination that occurred in the jury selection of Mr. Gaskin's trial. During voir dire, crucial bench conferences were held off the record or were not transcribed. Mr. Gaskin was ultimately tried by an all-white jury which took only forty minutes to deliberate at penalty phase. The omissions in the record have prevented Mr. Gaskin from determining to what extent black jurors were excluded from the jury venire. An evidentiary hearing is required on this issue.

16. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gaskin's claim that he failed to receive effective assistance of mental health experts, in violation of <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>. No background information was provided to a mental health expert by trial counsel, and the expert was forced to rely only on Mr. Gaskin's self-report.

17. Defense counsel failed to effectively argue against the admission of irrelevant evidence that had no probative value and prejudiced Mr. Gaskin's ability to present a viable defense. Mr. Gaskin pled sufficient facts to warrant a hearing on this issue under <u>Lemon</u>.

18. The effect of cumulative errors during Mr. Gaskin's trial establishes that Mr. Gaskin was deprived of a fair trial.

19. Mr. Gaskin's death sentence rests upon an

unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance and jury instructions in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

20. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gaskin's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to the numerous instances of improper and unconstitutional argument advanced by the State during the penalty phase.

21. The court shifted to Mr. Gaskin the burden of proving whether he should live or die. Shifting the burden to the defendant to establish that mitigating circumstances outweigh aggravating circumstances conflicts with established caselaw. The instructions violated the Eighth Amendment.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SUMMARILY MR. GASKIN'S AMENDED MOTION TO VACATE ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE CLAIMS WERE PROCEDURALLY BARRED. THE COURT MISTREATED THE AMENDED MOTION AS A SUCCESSIVE MOTION.

The trial court summarily denied Mr. Gaskin's postconviction motion on the erroneous assumption that the amended motion filed on the two-year date was a successive motion under Rule 3.850. In mistreating the amended motion as a successive motion the trial court also used an incorrect "newly-discovered evidence" standard by which to determine whether Mr. Gaskin was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claims (PC-R. 441-456).

Mr. Gaskin filed an initial 3.850 motion on March 23, 1995, well in advance of the two-year deadline, partly to invoke the jurisdiction of the trial court to compel certain Florida state agencies to comply with his requests for public records pertaining to his case pursuant to Florida Statutes Chapter 119. At that time, Rule 3.852 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure had yet to be enacted. There was no other, more efficient mechanism for compelling these state agencies to comply with his requests, or to seek discovery prior to filing his 3.850 motion. In fact, even with the assistance of the court, the State Attorney did not provide the requested public records from its files until <u>six days</u> before the two-year limitation period was to expire. This prevented Mr. Gaskin from investigating any claims that arose out of those files prior to the two-year deadline. Nonetheless, Mr. Gaskin timely filed his Rule 3.850 motion on the two year date, <u>i.e.</u>, October 12, 1995.

Had the State fully complied in a timely manner with Mr. Gaskin's requests for public records, the premature filing of his first 3.850 motion could have been avoided entirely, and the necessity of even filing an amended motion. Although the State effectively contributed to bringing about the foregoing circumstances, it managed to argue successfully to Judge Foxman that Mr. Gaskin was somehow at fault for failing to present the additional issues raised in the amended motion in his first motion, and that he should be procedurally barred from raising those additional issues.

The trial court's decison is contrary to the law and to principles of fundamental fairness. An amended motion is not a multiple or successive motion proscribed by Rule 3.850(f) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. <u>See Shaw v. State</u>, 654 So.

2d 608 (4th DCA 1995). There is no reason a trial court should not entertain on the merits additional issues raised in an amended 3.850 motion filed within the applicable limitation period and prior to adjudication of the initial 3.850 motion. Even assuming, arguendo, that the additional issues raised in the amended motion were untimely and therefore subject to a possible procedural bar, Mr. Gaskin cannot be held responsible for having prematurely filed his 3.850 motion when that event was precipitated, in part, by the failure of the State to comply in a timely manner with his lawful requests for public records. "The State cannot fail to furnish relevant information and then argue that the claim need not be heard on its merits because of an asserted procedural default that was caused by the State's failure to act." Ventura v. State, 673 So. 2d 479, 481 (Fla. 1996). Regardless of whether the additional claims raised by Mr. Gaskin in his amended 3.850 motion related directly to the public records procured subsequent to the intervention of the court, the additional claims are not procedurally barred. It was the misfeasance of the State that led Mr. Gaskin to file his initial 3.850 motion prematurely, and the State contributed to the omission of the additional issues in the initial motion.

Florida courts have long recognized a distinction between new claims raised as amendments to timely first-time pleadings sought prior to a final hearing on the merits, and new claims raised in successive motions after a claimant has received an adjudication in conjunction with a full and fair opportunity to present any claims he may have had.

Allowing amendments to pleadings, when timely sought, has been observed repeatedly by the courts to be a proper policy." <u>Bryant v. Small</u>, 271 So. 2d 808, 809 (3d DCA 1973). Rule 1.190(e) of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

In <u>Rozier v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 120 (5th DCA 1992), the court recognized the policy set forth in Rule 1.190(e) to motions filed pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure:

> The civil rule is pertinent because postconviction collateral remedies such as those initiated under rule 3.850 are in the nature of independent collateral civil actions. See State v. White, 470 So.2d 1377, 1378 (Fla. 1985). In State v. Lasley, 507 So.2d 711 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), the court noted that, "[1]ike a habeas corpus proceeding an action under rule 3.850 is considered civil in nature and collateral to the criminal prosecution which resulted in the judgment of conviction, notwithstanding the inclusion of rule 3.850 within the criminal rules.

603 So. 2d 120, 121. The court noted that "[a]mendments and supplements to rule 3.850 motions are commonplace." The court held that the trial court had departed from the essential requirements of the law by unjustly refusing to permit the defendant to supplement his timely filed motion for postconviction relief. 603 So. 2d 120, 121.

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