IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE FEB 16 1998

CLERK, BUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

LOUIS B. GASKIN,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 90,119

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

The trial court found the claim procedurally barred and, in the alternative, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (PCR IV 445-

46). The record supports these findings. The original trial record reveals that Gaskin's pretrial motion challenged the CCP aggravating factor, not the instruction. (R 1193-1217). Moreover, Gaskin made no challenge to the CCP instruction on direct appeal. See Gaskin v. State, 591 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1991). Thus, the trial court properly denied Gaskin's claim as procedurally barred. See Bush v. State, 682 So. 2d 85, 88 (Fla. 1996) (holding that defendant must object to instruction in trial court and challenge instruction on appeal for Jackson to apply on collateral review).

As for Gaskin's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, it is inappropriate to restyle a barred claim as one of ineffectiveness in order to overcome the procedural bar, especially where the allegation is no more than a one-sentence conclusion.

See Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995). Even were such a conclusory sentence adequate, Gaskin failed to show prejudice. And even if he had, the trial court properly found, in the alternative, that the facts support a finding of CCP under any definition of the terms. As the original trial court stated in finding the CCP factor applicable for the murder of Robert Sturmfels:

The First Degree Murder of ROBERT STURMFELS was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. In advance of his trip from Bunnell to Palm Coast the defendant loaded his car with the .22 caliber rifle and cutters for telephone wires if needed. He actually cut the phone line at the

Rector house prior to his commission of the offenses. In addition, the defendant carried and outfitted himself with gloves, a scarf, goggles, and a camouflage shirt. The victim, STURMFELS, did not provoke defendant nor did he offer any resistance to the defendant. The defendant coldly and calmly thought and thought of the killing as he circled the house of the STURMFELS, finally he shot only to have a misfire. He thought some more and circled the house again and then shot ROBERT STURMFELS three times once in the chest, once in the shoulder area, and a third in the neck. Finally, the defendant entered the house and from close range shot a bullet into ROBERT STURMFELS' head causing the fatal blow.

(PCR IV 474). As for Mrs. Sturmfels, the trial court substituted the following two concluding sentences: "He thought some more and circled the house again and then shot GEORGETTE STURMFELS three times near the den, and once from the other end of the house through the Christmas tree striking her chest. Finally, the defendant entered the house and from close range shot a bullet into GEORGETTE STURMFELS' head causing the fatal blow." (PCR IV 479).

Under these facts, Gaskin clearly committed these murders in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification, regardless of how these terms were defined to the jury. Therefore, even if trial counsel's conduct was deficient in failing to challenge the instruction at trial, Gaskin was not prejudiced thereby. Cf. Foster v. State, 654 So. 2d 112 (Fla. 1995) (finding Jackson instruction harmless where facts supported CCP finding under any definition of terms). As a result,

this Court should affirm the trial court's finding that this claim was procedurally barred or, in the alternative, nonprejudicial.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM VII, RELATING TO THE JURY'S PROPER ROLE IN SENTENCING (Restated).

In Claim VII of Gaskin's amended 3.850 motion, he alleged that "[t]he trial court and the prosecutor misled the jury concerning the significance that is attached to its sentencing verdict under the laws of the State of Florida." (PCR III 341-44). The trial court denied the claim as procedurally barred, since trial counsel failed to object to the allegedly erroneous comments and Gaskin failed to raise the issue on appeal. (PCR IV 447). This ruling was proper. See Bryan v. Dugger, 641 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1994); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

To overcome the bar, Gaskin alleged in a single sentence that "counsel's failure to object at trial and to raise this issue on direct appeal is ineffective assistance of counsel" (PCR III 344). The State submits that such a conclusory claim is insufficient to plead a claim for relief and cannot overcome the procedural bar. See Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995). Even were it sufficient, the record refutes such a claim. As the trial court found, "this alternative attempt to gain relief on this argument is equally without merit because the comments made

regarding the jury's role at sentencing were not improper; therefore, counsel's failure to object was not ineffective." (PCR IV 447). The trial court also noted that the jury was given the following instruction: "Your recommendation is important and will be given great weight by this Judge." (PCR IV 447 (quoting R 998). The trial court's finding was proper. See Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1990); Cave v. State, 529 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1988); Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's finding that this claim was procedurally barred and that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the comments.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM VIII, RELATING TO NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATION (Restated).

In Claim VIII of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin alleged that there were "many non-statutory aggravating factors presented at trial." The only one identified was the judge and jury's consideration of four counts of first-degree murder, instead of only two that were proper. (PCR III 344-45). The trial court found this claim procedurally barred, because counsel could have and should have raised it on direct appeal. (PCR IV 447-48). This ruling was proper. See Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990). After all, Gaskin challenged as a violation of double

jeopardy the trial court's adjudications of guilt for all four counts. <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 917, 920 (Fla. 1991).

Alternatively, the trial court found the claim without merit:

Additionally, in agreement with the State, the Court finds that the fact that the jury found the Defendant guilty of both premeditated and felony murder does not mean that they believed he had committed four murders instead of the actual two. It is quite evident that they were aware that there were only two murders. Such a ministerial error does not show the consideration of nonstatutory aggravation.

(PCR IV 448). This finding is supported by common sense. Therefore, this court should affirm the trial court's finding that this claim was procedurally barred and, in the alternative, without merit.

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM X, RELATING TO THE ORIGINAL TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO CHANGE VENUE (Restated).

In Claim X of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin alleged that he was "convicted and sentenced to death in a proceeding so fundamentally and irreparably tainted by the all-pervasive pretrial media coverage as to deny him the fair trial and sentencing proceeding guaranteed by the [constitution]." (PCR III 347-51). The trial court denied the claim as procedurally barred because Gaskin challenged on direct appeal the trial court's refusal to

change venue. (PCR IV 449). This ruling was proper. See Gaskin v. State, 591 So. 2d 917, 919-20 (Fla. 1991). Gaskin cannot use postconviction as a second appeal. Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

ISSUE X

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM XII, RELATING TO THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE DEATH PENALTY STATUTE (Restated).

In Claim XII of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin challenged the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute. (PCR III 353-55). The trial court denied this claim on the merits based on this Court's numerous opinions rejecting such a challenge. (PCR IV 450). This ruling was proper. See, e.g., Pooler v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S697, 699 (Fla. Nov. 6, 1997). Alternatively, the trial court could have found this claim procedurally barred, since Gaskin raised these claims on direct appeal. See Gaskin v. State, 591 So. 2d 917, 920 (Fla. 1991). Either way, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of this claim.

ISSUE XI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS FACIALLY AND LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT CLAIM XIII, RELATING TO OMISSIONS IN THE RECORD AND THE ALLEGED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO ENSURE A COMPLETE RECORD (Restated).

In Claim XIII of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin claimed in a mere eight sentences that "crucial Bench Conferences were held off the record, or were not properly transcribed," and that appellate counsel was ineffective for not ensuring "that an accurate and complete record on appeal was filed." (PCR III 355). The trial court denied the claim as legally insufficient because the proper vehicle for a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is a petition for writ of habeas corpus, not a motion for postconviction relief. (PCR IV 450). That ruling was proper. See Smith v. State, 400 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981).

Alternatively, the trial court could have found the claim procedurally barred because Gaskin raised this claim on direct appeal. See Gaskin v. State, 591 So. 2d 917, 920 (Fla. 1991). Finally, the trial court could have found Gaskin's claim facially insufficient because Gaskin failed to show any errors that occurred during those proceedings that were omitted from the record on appeal. Cf. Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994); Ferguson v. Singletary, 632 So. 2d 53, 58 (Fla. 1993); Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1079-80 (Fla. 1992). For any, or all, of

these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of this claim.

ISSUE XII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM XIV, RELATING TO THE STATE'S ALLEGED OVERBROAD ARGUMENT OF AGGRAVATORS (Restated).

In Claim XIV of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin alleged that the State made improper comments during its penalty phase closing argument. Specifically, he claimed that the State (1) failed to inform the jury of the limiting instruction relative to the HAC aggravating factor, (2) argued the applicability of the CCP factor when the facts did not support it, and (3) failed to inform the jury that it could not double the "pecuniary gain" and "felony murder" aggravating factors. (PCR III 356-57). The trial court denied this claim as procedurally barred because Gaskin could have and should have raised this issue on appeal. (PCR IV 450). This ruling was proper. See Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

To overcome the bar, Gaskin alleged in a single sentence that, "[t]o the extent Mr. Gaskin's trial counsel did not properly preserve this claim, Mr. Gaskin received ineffective assistance of counsel." (PCR III 357). The trial court found this allegation barred as well, since "a Defendant may not circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal" by

raising the issue under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. (PCR IV 450). This ruling was proper as well. <u>See Medina</u>, 573 So. 2d at 295. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of this claim.

ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM XV, RELATING TO ALLEGED JUROR MISCONDUCT (Restated).

In Claim XV of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin claimed that juror misconduct occurred in his trial. Citing pretrial publicity, Gaskin found it "unlikely" and "hard to believe" that the jurors were honest when they stated that they could be impartial. Gaskin also believed that the jury could not have properly considered and recommended death for both murders after less than 40 minutes of deliberation. (PCR III 358-59). The trial court denied the claim as procedurally barred since the grounds were based solely on the trial record and Gaskin could have raised the claim on direct appeal. Alternatively, the trial court denied the claim because Gaskin "[did] not provide any evidence of misconduct other than conclusory allegations; therefore, this claim is likewise legally insufficient." (PCR IV 451). These rulings were proper. See Lambrix v. State, 559 So. 2d 1137, 1138 (Fla. 1990).

ISSUE XIV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT CLAIM XVI, RELATING TO GASKIN'S ALLEGED INABILITY TO INTERVIEW THE JURORS IN HIS CASE (Restated).

In Claim XVI of his amended 3.850 motion, Gaskin claimed that Florida Rule of Professional Responsibility 4-3.5(d)(4) unconstitutionally prevented his collateral counsel from "investigating any claims of jury misconduct that may be inherent in the jury's verdict." (PCR III 360-62). The trial court denied the claim as procedurally barred and facially insufficient since Gaskin relied solely on the trial record to make conclusory allegations of potential misconduct. (PCR IV 451). That ruling was proper. See Lambrix v. State, 559 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1990).

Alternatively, the trial court could have ruled that Gaskin had no standing to raise this issue since the rule of professional conduct did not apply to him. Moreover, the law allows juror interviews under certain circumstances. See Roland v. State, 584 So. 2d 68, 70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (finding no criminal rule allowing for postverdict juror interviews, but noting application for such by motion "as a matter of practice"); Sconvers v. State, 513 So. 2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (construing criminal rules to allow postverdict juror interviews upon motion which makes a prima facie showing of juror misconduct); cf. Gilliam v. State, 582 So. 2d 610, 611 (Fla. 1991) (affirming denial of defendant's motion to conduct postverdict interview of jurors where defendant failed

to make prima facie showing of misconduct); Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 94 (Fla. 1991) (affirming denial of defendant's motion to conduct postverdict interview of jurors); Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.431(h) ("A party who believes that grounds for legal challenge to a verdict exists may move for an order permitting an interview of a juror or jurors to determine whether the verdict is subject to challenge."). If Gaskin had made a prima facie showing of misconduct, he could have obtained juror interviews. His inability to meet the requirements, however, did not affect the constitutionality of his conviction and sentence. Therefore, this claim was properly denied and should be affirmed.

ISSUE XV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM XVII, RELATING TO AN ALLEGED LACK OF A FAIR CROSS-SECTION OF THE COMMUNITY AMONG THE VENIRE (Restated).

Gaskin alleged in Claim XVII of his amended motion that he was denied equal protection because he was tried "before an all white jury from which citizens had been purposely excluded based on race." He also alleged that his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to the "systematic discrimination" and for failing to ensure that bench conferences that occurred during jury selection were recorded. (PCR III 363-64). The trial court found this claim procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal. (PCR IV 451). This ruling was proper. See

Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1993); Nelms v. State, 596 So. 2d 441 (Fla. 1992). As for Gaskin's ineffectiveness claim, the trial court found that Gaskin was merely rephrasing the issue as an ineffectiveness claim in order to escape the procedural bar, which is inappropriate. This ruling was likewise proper. See Williamson v. Dugger, 651 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1994); Kight v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

ISSUE XVI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CLAIMS RELATING THE XIX TO ALLEGED XVIII AND ASSISTANCE INEFFECTIVE OF COUNSEL AND INCOMPETENT MENTAL HEALTH **EVALUATIONS** (Restated).

The State relies on its arguments made in Issue IV relating to this claim.

ISSUE XVII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED CLAIM XX, RELATING TO THE ALLEGED INTRODUCTION OF IRRELEVANT MATERIAL AT GASKIN'S TRIAL (Restated).

Gaskin alleged in Claim XX of his amended 3.850 motion that the trial court improperly allowed the State to introduce into evidence at his trial a camera seized from his home, a partially smoke cigar found outside the Rectors' home, and a pair of Gaskin's boots. (PCR III 378-79). The trial court found this claim procedurally barred since Gaskin raised the identical claim in his

direct appeal. (PCR IV 454). This ruling was proper. <u>See Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 917, 920 (Fla. 1991); <u>Turner v. Dugger</u>, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992).

ISSUE XVIII

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